FILED December 30, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72467-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D'ANGELO SALOY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

D'Angelo Saloy was charged with first degree murder and attempted first degree murder after two of his fellow gang members reported he had claimed responsibility for a shooting committed against two rival gang members. Although Saloy was only 16 at the time of the shooting, the State delayed charging him for years, running the clock past his eighteenth birthday in order to obtain a recording of the statements Saloy had made to his friends. Because the State failed to demonstrate normal investigative methods had failed or were unlikely to succeed, its application to intercept and record Saloy's private conversation was legally insufficient and the trial court erred when it permitted the recording to be admitted at trial. The delay in charging Saloy was intentional and prejudiced him by eliminating the possibility that his case would remain in juvenile court, violating his right to Due Process.

In addition, the trial court wrongly denied Saloy's motion for a mistrial after the State commented on Saloy's right not to testify and improperly suggested defense counsel acted unethically by interviewing State witnesses. The court also improperly admitted highly prejudicial evidence at trial.

For all of these reasons, reversal of Saloy's convictions are required. Saloy is also entitled to a new sentencing hearing because the

trial court failed to fulfill its obligations under *Miller v. Alabama* when it imposed a de facto life sentence against Saloy without considering the mitigating circumstances related to his youth. At that new hearing, the trial court should also consider whether Saloy has the ability to pay any legal financial obligations before imposing such obligations at sentencing.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred when it made the findings of fact under 3(c) and concluded the application to intercept and record Saloy's private conversations was legally sufficient in its Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Recordings Made Pursuant to RCW 9.73.130. CP 699.

2. The trial court erred when it found the misstatements and omissions in the application were not material in 2(b)-2(f) and denied Saloy a *Franks*¹ hearing in 3(a) of its Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Recordings Made Pursuant to RCW 9.73.130. CP 697-98.

3. When the trial court denied Saloy's motion to suppress the recordings made pursuant to RCW 9.73.130, it erred.

4. Prosecutorial delay denied Saloy his right to Due Process.

5. The automatic decline statute, RCW 13.04.030, is unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14.

¹ Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 164, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978).

6. Saloy was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorneys suggested to the jury that defense counsel had acted unethically and when a prosecuting attorney commented on Saloy's decision not to testify at trial.

7. The trial court erred when it admitted highly prejudicial evidence, with minimal relevance or probative value, over the defense's objection.

8. The trial court violated the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14, when it imposed a de facto life sentence without fulfilling its obligations under *Miller v. Alabama*.²

9. The trial court erred when it imposed legal financial obligations upon Saloy at sentencing.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Washington Privacy Act requires a police officer make a showing that normal investigative procedures have failed or are unlikely to succeed before the State is permitted to intercept and record a private conversation. Where the State failed to make this necessary showing because witnesses had come forward and were willing to testify to Saloy's statements, did the trial court err when it denied his pre-trial motion to suppress the wire recording?

² Miller v. Alabama, U.S. __, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012).

2. Where a defendant makes a substantial showing that misstatements or omissions in an application to intercept and record a private conversation impact the finding of probable cause, a hearing is required. Where Saloy demonstrated these misstatements and omissions were material, did the trial court err when it refused to suppress the recording or hold an evidentiary hearing?

3. A defendant's right to Due Process may be violated when a prosecutor intentionally or negligently delays charging and the defendant is prejudiced. If, upon a weighing of the prejudice to the defendant and the reasons offered by the State, the delay violates "the fundamental conceptions of justice," Due Process has been violated. Where the State delayed charging Saloy in order to obtain a wire recording of his private statements to friends, and Saloy lost the opportunity to be tried as juvenile as a result, is reversal required?

4. For purposes of sentencing, children are constitutionally different from adults, and a court violates the Eighth Amendment when it fails to account for these differences during the prosecution of a defendant who is alleged to have committed the crime as a youth. Where the difference between adult criminal court and the juvenile system is the severity of the possible punishment, is the automatic decline statute, which requires some criminal cases against children be *automatically* transferred

to adult court without judicial consideration of the youth's individual circumstances, unconstitutional?

5. A defendant may be denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorney acts improperly and the defendant is prejudiced. Where the prosecuting attorneys improperly suggested defense counsel acted unethically by interviewing State's witnesses, and later commented on Saloy's right to remain silent at trial, must this Court reverse?

6. Evidence must be excluded where it is irrelevant or the danger of unfair prejudice exists. The trial court erroneously admitted photos, images, and a video recording that were highly prejudicial and only demonstrated Saloy was a gang member, which was a fact undisputed at trial. It also admitted irrelevant evidence that Saloy had urinated on a memorial for one of the victims. Where these errors were not harmless, is reversal required?

7. A trial court must consider a youth's mitigating circumstances before imposing a de facto life sentence. Where Saloy was only 16 years old at the time of the shooting, is reversal and remand for a new sentencing hearing required because the trial court failed to comply with its obligation under *Miller* before imposing a sentence that confines Saloy to prison until close to his 80th birthday?

8. A trial court must consider a defendant's ability or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations before imposing them at sentencing. Where the court imposed \$600 in LFOs against Saloy without determining whether he could pay them, should this Court order the trial court to consider Saloy's ability to pay at a new sentencing hearing?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Five teenagers affiliated with Central District gangs were hanging out on the steps of Garfield High School on Halloween night in 2008. 7/22/14 RP 16-18, 24. A car drove by and multiple shots were fired at the teens. 7/22/14 RP 28. One of the teenagers, Quincy Coleman, was struck by two bullets and killed. 7/21/14 RP 84. Another teenager, Demario Clark, suffered two gunshot wounds but survived. 7/15/14 RP 124.

Police were immediately called to the scene, and although there were a lot of people around, there were no witnesses able and willing to identify the shooters. 7/15/14 RP 67, 88. Dana Duffy, a homicide detective with the Seattle Police Department, was assigned to the case. 7/28/14 RP 151. Her investigation initially pointed her to a man named Monroe Ezell. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 4. Rumor on the street was that Ezell had fired at least some of the shots with another young man, Ramsey Fola, who had driven the car. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 10. Prior to the shooting, Ezell had left a threatening voicemail message for Coleman, telling him he

would shoot him. 7/31/14 RP 15. At trial, one of the teens on the steps that night testified he had seen the driver and believed it was Ramsey Fola. 7/22/14 RP 31.

Detective Duffy soon learned Ezell was upset people were saying he had participated in the shooting and pointed the finger at D'Angelo Saloy. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 21. Over the next several months, two individuals told police Saloy had told them he committed the shooting with Ramsey Fola. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 23, 26. This information conflicted with the only information provided at the scene, which described the passenger shooter as having a dark complexion. 7/30/14 RP 95; Pretrial Ex. 1 at 1 (showing photograph of Saloy, who has a light complexion).

One of the individuals who came forward, Wendall Downs, provided detailed information about Saloy's account of the shooting, even leading police to the part of Lake Washington where Saloy allegedly said he discarded the weapons. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 27. While four weapons were recovered from the lake in 2010 and 2011, none could be tied to the shooting. 7/24/14 RP 159, 174.

In October 2009, Detective Duffy completed the certification of facts and forwarded it to the prosecuting attorneys. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 26. Despite having strong evidence that Saloy was making incriminating statements to his friends, the State waited to file charges and sought to

obtain a wire recording of Saloy's private conversation. CP 75. After a trial court initially granted the State this authority, Downs was unable to record Saloy making these statements. CP 87-88. Later, Juan Sanchez, one of Saloy's closest friends and a fellow South End gang member, agreed to assist the State after he was informed by Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) that he and his parents faced deportation unless he cooperated.³ 7/28/14 RP 119.

The State obtained a second authorization to intercept and record Saloy's private conversations, however the application misstated some facts and omitted others. CP 697. Sanchez successfully recorded Saloy making statements similar to those he and others had heard Saloy make before, in which Saloy claimed responsibility for the shooting. Exs. 49, 51. After the State obtained this recording, it moved forward with the charges against Saloy, alleging he committed first degree murder and first degree assault, with a firearm enhancement and gang aggravator attached to both charges. CP 1. Following Saloy's decision to go to trial, the State amended the first degree assault charge to attempted first degree murder. CP 585.

 $^{^3}$ At trial, the ICE agent who initiated contact with Sanchez, and who was later fired from the government agency for lying to his employer, admitted Sanchez's offenses did not actually put him at risk for deportation. 7/22/14 RP 73, 84.

At trial, the State introduced extensive evidence about gangs. Benjamin Hughey, a gang unit detective with the Seattle Police Department, testified that in 2008 and 2009, there was a large feud between the Central District and South End gangs, which resulted in a number of teens being killed. 7/17/14 RP 86, 88. The gang with which Saloy affiliated was originally formed in the South End so that the young men in the neighborhood could protect themselves from Bloods and Crips moving into Seattle from California. 7/31/14 RP 119. Detective Hughey explained young boys in the South End join "start-up gangs" at an early age – sometimes as young as nine years old – and then move into a recognized gang as they grow into their teens. 7/17/14 RP 102; 7/31/14 RP 119-20. The most common way to become part of a gang is to get "jumped in," or assaulted by other boys in the neighborhood, though some kids commit a crime to gain membership or are "blessed in" if a parent is a gang member. 7/17/14 RP 101. Detective Hughey testified that Saloy, like so many other young boys in his neighborhood, joined a "start-up gang" when he was very young. 7/31/14 RP 121.

Detective Hughey further testified that respect and power are earned in gangs by engaging in criminal activity. 7/31/14 RP 104. Thus, it is important for gang members to brag to each other about crimes they have committed. 7/31/14 RP 106. While Detective Hughey was quick to

say it could be dangerous to take credit for another gang member's crime, he acknowledged that this culture leads gang members to embellish their participation in criminal activity in order to gain respect from peers. 7/17/14 RP 107.

The gang evidence provided the State's theory on Saloy's motive. 5/27/14 RP 113 (trial court ruling it admissible for the same). Coleman and Clark were both members of Central District gangs and Garfield High School was a common place for Central District gang members to meet. 7/31/14 RP 112, 117, 129. Sanchez testified Saloy told him he committed the shooting for a friend, who had earlier been killed by Central District gang members. 7/28/14 RP 38.

Saloy did not dispute his membership in a South End gang at trial. 7/31/14 RP 100. Despite the fact his gang membership was not contested, the State sought to admit a voluminous amount of "gang evidence," which the court granted over the defense's objections that it proved nothing more than Saloy's undisputed affiliation with the gang, and was highly prejudicial. 7/31/14 RP 107; 7/30/14 RP 12.

Three Central District gang members testified for the State. 7/21/14 RP 125, 155; 7/22/14 RP 14. Of the three, only one witness was cooperative. 7/21/14 RP 125, 155; 7/22/14 RP 14. In each instance where the witness was uncooperative, the prosecuting attorney pointedly asked

the witness if he had received a visit from defense counsel. Ex. 103 (Graves at 1, 4 Jimerson at 3). After the State rested, Saloy moved for a mistrial, explaining that this questioning, particularly as contrasted against the omission of this questioning of the cooperative witness, suggested defense counsel had acted unethically. 8/4/14 RP 11-12. The trial court denied Saloy's motion, as well as his motion in the alternative to strike the questions and answers and instruct the jury to disregard. 8/5/14 RP 9. Saloy elected not to testify at trial. During closing argument, the State commented that only Saloy could tell the jury how many individuals were in the car the night of the shooting. 8/6/14 RP 64. Once again, Saloy moved for a mistrial, explaining the State had improperly commented on his right to remain silent. 8/6/14 RP 74. The court denied this motion. 8/6/14 RP 65.

The jury convicted Saloy of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder. CP 678, 680. It found him guilty of the firearm enhancements, but not the gang aggravators. CP 679, 681, 683, 685. At sentencing, the trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 712 months, committing Saloy to prison until around his 80th birthday. CP 689. Before imposing this de facto life sentence, the trial court did not consider whether it was appropriate to commit Saloy to prison for the

remainder of his life, given that the shooting occurred when Saloy was

only 16 years old. 1 RP 242.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The affidavit for the intercept order, which allowed police to record Saloy without his consent, was legally insufficient under the Washington Privacy Act and the wire recording must be suppressed; absent suppression, the trial court erred when it denied Saloy a *Franks* hearing.
 - a. <u>The Washington Privacy Act requires a police officer present a</u> particular statement of facts showing that normal investigative procedures have failed, reasonably appear to be unlikely to succeed, or are too dangerous to employ before a court may authorize the interception and recording of a private conversation.

The Washington Privacy Act "is considered one of the most restrictive in the nation." *State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 724, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014) (citing *State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 672, 57 P.3d 255 (2002)). It prohibits the recording of any "[p]rivate conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation." RCW 9.73.030(1)(b). "Evidence obtained in violation of the act is inadmissible for any purpose at trial." *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 724; RCW 9.73.050. This statute provides greater protection than either the state or federal constitutions. *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 725. "Washington is 1 of only 11 states that require that *all* parties to a private communication consent to its recording and disclosure." *Id*. (emphasis original). Although the legislature has amended the act twice, it has continued "to tip the balance in favor of individual privacy at the expense of law enforcement's ability to obtain information in criminal proceedings." *Id*. (citing *State v*. *Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 198-99, 103 P.3d 789 (2004)).

The Privacy Act permits a police officer to intercept and record a conversation to which one party has given consent, but only when the officer obtains court approval in advance and the officer's application satisfies several statutory conditions. *Id.*; RCW 9.73.090(2); RCW

9.73.130. In part, the statute requires the officer provide:

A particular statement of facts showing that other normal investigative procedures with respect to the offense have been tried and have failed or reasonably appear to be unlikely to succeed if tried or to be too dangerous to employ.

RCW 9.73.130(3)(f). A boilerplate recitation which "merely support[s] the truism that having a recording to play at trial is advantageous to the State in obtaining a conviction" is not sufficient for a trial court to authorize the interception and recording of a private conversation. *Id.* at 720. *State v. Manning*, 81 Wn. App. 714, 718, 915 P.2d 1162 (1996).

Where the facts are undisputed, as they are here, this Court reviews Privacy Act violations de novo. *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 728 (citing *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 699, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911 (1996) ("as a general matter determinations of reasonable suspicion and probable cause should be reviewed *de novo* on appeal")).

b. <u>The State failed to present the required particularized showing</u> <u>in its application to intercept and record Saloy's conversation</u> <u>with Juan Sanchez.</u>

Prior to trial, Saloy moved to suppress the wire recording of a conversation between him and a close friend, Juan Sanchez. CP 63; 5/20/14 RP 67; 5/27/14 RP 117. Detective Duffy's application for the authority to intercept and record Saloy's conversation with Sanchez included the boilerplate assertion that "[n]ormal investigative techniques have been tried and failed and reasonably appear to be unlikely to succeed if tried." CP 93. She justified this assertion with the following claims: (1) it was unlikely any witnesses would come forward and testify against a gang member; (2) there was no eye witness placing Saloy at the scene of the crime; and (3) it was unlikely there would be any physical or documentary evidence at trial. CP 93-94.

Detective Duffy's first assertion – that it was unlikely any witnesses would come forward to testify against a gang member – directly contradicts the claims she made earlier in the application, and the trial court's finding in support of this first assertion was error. CP 699 (paragraph 3(c)). In Detective Duffy's affidavit, she asserted Saloy had already confessed to Sanchez, and Sanchez had "self initiated to assist" in the investigation in an attempt to prevent his family from being deported from the United States. CP 90. She also stated there were other individuals who had provided information to the police about Saloy. She asserted two individuals, Dewaun Miller and Wendell Downs, reported to police that Saloy had told them he committed the shooting. CP 84-85.

In her affidavit, Detective Duffy described how Downs made repeated contacts with the police and provided extensive information. CP 85-87. In fact, Downs previously agreed to participate in a recorded conversation with Saloy but this did not occur before the court's prior order, authorizing this recording, expired. CP 87-88. In addition, Detective Duffy explained that the police had spoken with a "confidential witness" who Saloy had allegedly confessed to the night of the shooting. CP 88.

Thus, not only did her affidavit demonstrate Sanchez was ready and willing to testify against Saloy at trial, but that at least one additional witness, Wendall Downs, was willing to do so as well. That the State preferred to have Saloy's statements recorded, rather than rely on the testimony of witnesses, does not satisfy RCW 9.73.130(3)(f). "The

desirability of avoiding a 'one-on-one' swearing contest" is not sufficient to justify the involuntary interception and recording of a private conversation under RCW 9.73.130(3)(f). *Manning*, 81 Wn. App. at 721.

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