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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE JUDICIALLY-AUTHORIZED WIRE

RECORDING OF A CONVERSATION BETWEEN

SALOY AND A FELLOW GANG MEMBER WAS

PROPERLY ADMITTED.

a. Relevant Facts.

i, The initial police investigation.

Despite having very little physical evidence and encountering

extremely limited cooperation from those involved, Seattle Police

Detective Dana Duffy and her partner conducted a lengthy and thorough

investigation of Coleman's homicide. See CP 296-373; Pretrial Ex. 1.

A single .40 caliber shell casing was found on the west side of 25t~'

Avenue. 7/15/14 RP 78; 7/17/14 RP 160-62. However, the two bullets

recovered from Coleman's body were both .38 caliber, and Demario
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Clark's wounds were "through and through," so it was unknown what type

of gun was used to shoot Clark. CP 297-98; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 11.

Although there were multiple people milling about the area at the time of

the shooting, the police were unable to locate any third-party

eyewitnesses. 7/15/14 RP 54, 62, 67.

Clark was uncooperative and hostile with the police when they

came to speak with him at the hospital. CP 299; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 7. In

fact, despite having been shot, Clarlc never provided a statement to the

police, nor did he participate in the trial. 7/30/14 RP 93. Cleden Jimerson

told the police only that the car was alight-colored Ford Taurus. Ex. 45;

7/17/14 RP 27-29. He claimed to remember nothing at trial. 7/21/14 RP

124-48. When Franlc Graves Jr. finally agreed to be interviewed by police

a week after the shooting, the only information he provided was that he

believed the car involved was asilver-colored Ford Taurus and that he had

seen adark-skinned arm with a gun.l Pretrial Ex. 1, at 12; 7/30/14 RP

93-96. At trial, Graves Jr. refused to be sworn, claimed to remember

nothing —including his father's name —and denied being at Garfield High

School the evening Coleman was killed. 7/21/14 RP 155-68.

' Graves Jr. ultimately admitted to having his own gun when he was shot at, and admitted

that he had discarded it in the bathroom of the Teen Life Center immediately thereafter.

CP 299-3'00; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 13. The gun was discovered in the bathroom the night of

the shooting. CP 299; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 4.

-7-
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Based on information that Graves Jr. provided to another CD gang

member, and based on rumors about what Clark was telling others,

Detective Duffy initially focused on a South End gang member named

Monroe Ezell and a Samoan male named "Ramsey." CP 298-300; Pretrial

Ex. 1, at 4. In late November of 2008, Detective Duffy interviewed Ezell,

who claimed that he had been at the Union Gospel Mission to pick up

community service paperwork around the time of the crime. CP 303;

Pretrial Ex. 1, at 20. Ezell gave conflicting accounts of where he had gone

after that. CP 303.

In mid-December 2008, Robert Martin, who worked at the Union

Gospel Mission, confirmed that Ezell had been there the evening of the

shooting, and estimated it was around the time of the shooting. CP 304;

Pretrial Ex. 1, at 21; 7/17/14 RP 22. According to Martin, Ezell later

called him and said that "a guy named D'Angelo Saloy" and "Ramsey"

had done the shooting, but Ezell did not say how he knew that. Pretrial

Ex. 1, at 21. Based on cellular tower site tracking information, Ezell's

telephone appeared to be near the Union Gospel Mission at the time of the

shooting, although other information police had was inconsistent with his

alibi. CP 304-05; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 22.

Detective Duffy was able to identify "Ramsey" as Ramsey Fola.

CP 299; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 19. Detectives learned that one of Fola's family
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members owned a gray Ford Taurus that Fola sometimes drove. CP

302-03, 306; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 19, 25. Fola told the police that he had been

at his friend Kenneth Woods' house on the night of the murder. Id.

In December of 2008, Woods and his mother told detectives that

Fola and Saloy had been at their home the night of the shooting; however,

Woods did not know when, and his mother estimated they had arrived

between 6:00 and 7:00 p.m, CP 303; Pretrial Ex 1, at 21. The shooting

occurred at 8:19 p.m. 7/17/14 RP 22. The police learned that Fola's

cellular phone had been turned off during the shooting, so police could not

determine his location at that time. Pretrial Ex. 1, at pg. 22.

On March 4, 2009, a confidential source ("CW#1") told detectives

that he had recently been hanging out with a group of individuals,

including Saloy, and that Saloy told the group that Fola had been driving

and that Saloy had shot Coleman. Pretrial Ex. 1, at 23. CW#1 had no

details and was not present when the crime occurred. Id.

On March 10, 2009, the police went to a possible address for Saloy

and left a message for him to contact them. Pretrial Ex. 1, at 23. Saloy

called Detective Duffy the next day and said that he would arrange a

meeting the following week, but he never called back nor answered his

phone. Pretrial Ex. 1, at 23-24. On June 30, 2009, Detective Duffy was

alerted that Gang Unit detectives had Saloy at police headquarters for an
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unrelated incident, and she was able to speak to him about Coleman's

murder for the first time. CP 305; Pretrial Ex, 1, at 25. Saloy told her that

he had been at Woods' house with Fola and estimated that he left around

7:00 p.m, Id. He was not sure how he got home, but claimed that he

either walked or that his sister picked him up. Id.

On September 29, 2009, police arrested a young man ("CW#2") on

a warrant who claimed that he had heard Fola talking about how he had

been driving his brother's Ford Taurus while Saloy shot at Coleman and

his friends. CP 306; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 26. CW#2 told police that he had

also heard Saloy bragging about shooting Coleman, but that he did not

believe him at first. CP 306-07. CW#2 told police that Saloy had said he

had a .38 revolver and Ramsey had a .40 caliber semiautomatic handgun.

Id. CW#2 stated that neither Fola nor Saloy had gone into great detail

about the shooting. Pretrial ex, 1, at 26.

In mid-December of 2009, CW#2 told Detective Duffy that Saloy

had recently shown him where he had disposed of the murder weapons in

Lake Washington. CP 308; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 27. Detective Duffy called

the Harbor Patrol to look for the weapons but they were unsuccessful in

locating them. Id.

On January 4, 2010, Detective Duffy applied for and received

approval fox a wire recording using CW#2. CP 308; Pretrial Ex, 1, at 27.
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However, CW#2 did not follow through and participate with the intercept

and later told the police he was "not on good terms" with either Fola or

Saloy. CP 308-09; Pretrial Ex, 1, at 27-28

On August 11, 2010, an individual who wished to remain

anonymous ("AW") told police that he had seen Saloy with Ezell and a

Samoan male one night and heard Saloy claiming to have just shot

someone with a .38 revolver. CP 309; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 28-29. The

individual did not believe Saloy until he later saw the news about a

shooting at Garfield. Id.

Aiso in August of 2010, a scuba diver located a .357 revolver and a

.45 caliber semi-automatic handgun in Lalce Washington in close

proximity to where CW#2 had said Saloy discarded the weapons from the

Coleman murder, CP 309; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 28. The weapons were

retrieved, and Detective Duffy submitted requests for latent fingerprint,

ballistics, and DNA analysis. Id.

On October 10, 2010, an individual named Juan Sanchez and his

family came to the attention of federal immigration authorities. Special

Agents from the Department of Homeland Security spoke to Sanchez's

mother, who told them that her son had information about a murder. CP

310; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 29. Due to significant pressure from the federal

authorities regarding immigration, Sanchez, who was a close friend of
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Saloy's, agreed to be interviewed by Seattle Police Homicide detectives.2

Id. Sanchez told Detective Duffy that Saloy had previously admitted to

him that he and Fola had committed the murder from Fola's sister's car.

CP 31 l; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 29. Saloy told Sanchez that he wanted to kill a

CD gang member for revenge after his friend Pierre LaPointe's death. Id.

Sanchez told police that he thought Saloy used a .38 caliber gun. Pretrial

Ex. 1, at 29. Sanchez told Detective Duffy that Ezell could not have been

with Saloy and Fola during the shooting because Ezell had been with

Sanchez. Id.

Based on her investigation to date, and based on Sanchez's

agreement to cooperate, Detective Duffy prepared an application for an

intercept order to record conversations between Sanchez and Saloy and

Fola during the time frame between November 27, 2010 and December 4,

2010. CP 296-317; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 29. The Honorable Judge Richard

Eadie signed the order on November 22, 2010. CP 375-77.

ii. The judicially-authorized wire recording.

On November 27, 2010, detectives met with Sanchez and wired

him for the operation. Although Sanchez met with Saloy that evening,

other individuals were present, so Sanchez did not bring up Coleman's

murder, and Saloy did not talk about it. Pretrial Ex. 1, at 30; 7/28/14RP

z The federal authorities told Sanchez that if he did not cooperate, they would deport him

and his parents. 7/28/14 RP 50-52.
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55-57. A few days later, on December 1, 2010, detectives wired

Sanchez's body and his car for both audio and video. Pretrial Ex. 1, at 30.

Sanchez picked up Saloy and the two drove around. They drove to

Garfield High School, where they got out of the car at the scene of the

shooting. While driving in the car and while at Garfield, Saloy confessed

to murdering Coleman, and provided significant detail about the shooting

and how it had occurred. Ex. 48, 49, 50, 51; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 30; 7/28/14

RP 59-68, 71-83, 87-102.

iii. Saloy's pretrial motion to suppress the wire
recording.

Saloy moved pretrial to suppress the wire recording, or in the

alternative, to grant him an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Franks v.

Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978). Saloy

argued that law enforcement was required, but failed, to exhaust all

regular avenues of investigation before seeking the intercept order. He

also argued that Detective Duffy recklessly or intentionally provided

incorrect information in her application for the intercept order, entitling

him to a hearing on the issue. CP 63-74, 236-40; 5/20/14 RP 67-80.

Following extensive briefing and argument, the trial court denied Saloy's

motion to suppress, denied Saloy an evidentiary hearing, and entered
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written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 695-700; 5/27/14 RP

116-26.

b. The Trial Court Properly Admitted The Wire
Recording.

Washington's Privacy Act, RCW chapter 9.73, generally prohibits

recording private conversations without the consent of all the parties to the

conversation. RCW 9.73.030; State v. Roden, 179 Wn.2d 893, 898, 321

P.3d 1183 (2014). However,.electronic recording of conversations with

one party's consent is permitted where law enforcement obtains a judicial

order finding probable cause to believe that the nonconsenting party has

committed a felony. RCW 9.73.090(2). The application for the judicial

order must contain a particular statement of facts relied upon by the

applicant to justify the belief that an authorization should be issued, and

must include, among other things:

A particular statement of facts showing that other normal
investigative procedures with respect to the offense have
been tried and have failed or reasonably appear unlikely to
succeed if tried or to be too dangerous to employ.

RCW 9.73.130(3)0.

Saloy argues that the trial court should have suppressed the wire

recording because Detective Duffy's application for judicial authorization

did not contain sufficient particularized facts to support Judge Eadie's

conclusion that "[n]ormal investigative techniques have been tried and
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failed and reasonably appear to be unlikely to succeed if tried." CP 376.

However, the trial court properly determined that the facts set forth by

Detective Duffy in her application adequately supported Judge Eadie's

determination.

Initially, Saloy misstates the standard of review for all suppression

rulings under the Privacy Act as de novo. A judge considering an

application for an intercept order has considerable discretion to determine

whether statutory procedures have been met. State v. Johnson, 125 Wn.

App. 443, 455, 105 P.3d 85 (2005) (citing State v. Cisneros, 63 Wn. App.

724, 728-29, 821 P.2d 1262 (1992)). A reviewing court will affirm an

intercept order when the facts set forth in the application were minimally

adequate to support the court's determination. Johnson, 125 Wn. App. at

455; State v. Manning, 81 Wn. App. 714, 718, 915 P.2d 1162 (1996);

State v. Porter, 98 Wn. App. 631, 634, 990 P.2d 460 (1999).

In support of his claim that the appropriate standard of review is

de novo, Saloy cites to State v. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d 718, 728, 317 P.3d 1029

(2014). This Court should reject Saloy's broad interpretation of K1pp,

which held only that the question of whether a conversation is "private"

within the meaning of the Privacy Act could be determined as a matter of

law where the facts surrounding the conversation are undisputed. 179

Wn.2d at 722-23. K1pp does not contradict the above cases concluding
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that an intercept order will be affirmed whenever the application sets forth

minimally adequate facts to support the authorizing court's determination.

Contrary to Saloy's argument, law enforcement is not required to

demonstrate absolute necessity to obtain an intercept order. State v.

Constance, 154 Wn. App. 861, 880, 226 P.3d 231 (2010) (citing State v.

Platz, 33 Wn. App. 345, 349, 655 P.2d 710 (1982)). Rather, investigating

officers must demonstrate that they have tried, or have given serious

consideration to other methods, and explain to the authorizing judge why

those other methods are inadequate in the particular case. Manning, 81

Wn. App. at 720. This requirement is to be interpreted in a common sense

fashion, and the intercept order must be affirmed if it sets forth minimally

adequate facts to support a determination that other investigatory

techniques were inadequate. Platz, 33 Wn. App. at 350; Manning, 81 Wn.

App. at 718.

Non-exclusive relevant factors for the court's consideration

include the nature of the crime and inherent difficulties in proving it,3 the

fact that the case has remained unsolved for a significant period of time,4

the fact that there is no additional evidence to be collected,5 the fact that

3 State v. Kichinlco, 26 Wn, App. 304, 311, 613 P,2d 792 (1980).

4 Platz, 33 Wn, App, at 350.

5 Johnson, 125 Wn, App. at 456.
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the suspect has already denied involvement in the crime and is unlikely to

confess to police,6 the likelihood that the suspect would not divulge to an

outside party, the difficulty of surveillance without the aid of an

electronic device given the uncertainty or inaccessibility ofthe location

where the conversations are anticipated to take place,$ that the exact

wording of the conversation could be of critical evidentiary

importance,9the necessity of avoiding aone-on-one dispute about what

was said during the conversation,10 and to avoid an attack on the

credibility of a witness, particularly one with criminal 
history.l l

Detective Duffy's application contains numerous particularized

facts explaining the investigative methods police had already attempted, as

well as the serious consideration she gave as to why additional

investigative methods other than the wire recording were unlikely to

suffice. At the time Duffy sought the intercept order, over two years had

elapsed since the shooting, and police still had insufficient evidence to

charge either Fola or Saloy. See CP 317 (application signed on November

22, 2010).

6 Constance, 154 Wn. App. at 880-84.

State v. Irwin, 43 Wn. App. 553, 557, 718 P.2d 826 (1986).

8 Id.

9 State v. Lopez, 70 Wn. App, 259, 267, 856 P.2d 390 (1993).

to State v. D.J.W., 76 Wn. App, 135, 149, 882 P.2d 1199 (1994).

1' Lopez 70 Wn, App. at 267.
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It was apparent from the intercept application that the case would

not be proven with eyewitness testimony. Detective Duffy outlined how

the suspected motivation for the crime was gang-related and how the

known eyewitnesses were reluctant to cooperate and had refused to

provide any significant information to law enforcement. See CP 299-300

(detailing how the surviving victim, Demario Clarlc, was hostile and

uncooperative with police despite the fact that he was rumored to be

providing information to third parties); CP 298-300 (eyewitness Franlc

Graves Jr. provided the police only with a description of the vehicle,

despite rumors that he was able to identify its occupants).

Detective Duffy informed the authorizing court that the police had

conducted multiple interviews in the case which had proven only that "due

to the [g]ang mentality" and its "code of ethics," the witnesses, victims,

and suspects would not "snitch" on opposing gang members. CP 315.

Duffy outlined how in her experience, gang members have a "code of

silence" that they use to justify their non-cooperation with law

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